FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/18/2022 4:34 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

100846-5

No. 38017-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOANN CASKEY, Petitioner,
vs.
OLD REPUBLIC SURETY COMPANY, INC., Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Attorneys for Petitioner

BRIAN G CAMERON, WSBA #44905 Cameron Sutherland, PLLC 421 W. Riverside Ave., Ste 660 Spokane, WA 99201 TEL. (509) 315-4507

KIRK D. MILLER, WSBA #40025 Kirk D. Miller, P.S. 421 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 660 Spokane, WA 99201 TEL. (509) 413-1494

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner JoAnn Caskey asks this Court to accept review of the Division III Court of Appeals' decision designated in Part B herein.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Ms. Caskey asks this Court to review the Division III

Court of Appeals published Opinion, *Caskey v. Old Republic*Surety Co., No. 38017-3-III, 2022 WL 803811 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 17, 2022), which presents an issue of first impression concerning the duty of sureties that issue licensing bonds under Washington's Contractor Registration Act (CRA), RCW 18.27, et seq., to "reasonably and professionally investigate and resolve claims" made by mobile and manufactured home occupants under RCW 18.27.117(3).

In this case, the lower court ruled that it is a *per se* violation of the Consumer Protection Act (CPA), RCW 19.86, *et seq.*, "when a bonding company's failure to reasonably and professionally investigate and resolve claims made by injured

parties causes a safety risk or severely hinders the use of [a mobile or manufactured] home," *Caskey*, No. 38017-3-III at *1, which is consistent with the plain language of the statute. RCW 18.27.117. However, the lower court also ruled that "a claim against the bond is not made unless and until a lawsuit is filed in superior court using the substitute process procedures required by RCW 18.27.040(3)." *Id.* Therefore, the lower court concluded, a surety does not "an obligation to reasonably and professionally investigate and resolve the claim" until after a lawsuit is filed, after which point the investigation and resolution of claims is governed by discovery rules and trial procedures. *Id.*

Finally, the Court of Appeals ruled that Ms. Caskey asserting a claim for payment from the bond under any circumstances did not make her a "first-party claimant" under Washington's Insurance Fair Conduct Act (IFCA), RCW 48.30, et seq. That is, she was not "asserting a right to payment as a covered person under an insurance policy or insurance

contract," and therefore had no standing to bring an IFCA claim against the surety. RCW 48.30.015(4); WAC 284-30-320(7).

After hearing oral arguments on December 10, 2021, the lower court published its Opinion on March 17, 2022. Mr. Caskey now petitions this Court for final review.

A copy of the appellate court's published Opinion is in the Appendix herein at pages A-1 through A-7.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is an aggrieved party required to file a lawsuit in Superior Court against a contractor and its bond before a surety company's duty to "reasonably and professionally investigate and resolve claims" under RCW 18.27.117(3) arises?
- 2. Is an aggrieved party asserting a claim for payment from a licensing bond a "first party claimant" under RCW 48.30, et seq.?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about August 9, 2017, Petitioner JoAnn Caskey purchased a brand-new manufactured home, which was to be

delivered to a private park community in Kettle Falls. Washington, for installation by a third-party contractor, Bud's & Doug's Mobile Home Service, LLC ("B's & D's) (Id. at ¶¶ 4.2, 4.3, 4.5). Ms. Caskey paid B's & D's the initial sum of \$7,594 for the installation and set-up of her home, plus additional charges of \$430.40 for "blocking and skirting." (Id. at ¶ 4.8). On or about December 7, 2017, B's & D's arrived at the community park site to begin installation of Ms. Caskey's new home. (Id. at \P 4.9 – 4.10). B's and D's set Ms. Caskey's home on bare ground, without any pad, gravel leveling, skirting, or stairs to access the unit, ultimately failing to complete the installation and prepare the home for its final permit inspection. (CP $7 \P 4.11 - 4.12$).

Over the next month or more, B's & D's faulty installation caused numerous problems in Ms. Caskey's home, including but not limited to gaps in windows and doors, exposure of living spaces to weather elements, cracks and separations between walls and ceilings, misaligned doors that

fixtures, defective sewage lines that leaked under the home, and many others. (*Id.* at ¶ 4.13). Not surprisingly, the installation failed to pass its permit inspection. (*Id.* at ¶ 4.14). In March 2018, Ms. Caskey began hiring other contractors to complete the installation of her home and resolve the various defects and deficiencies caused by B's & D's faulty installation. (CP 8 ¶ 4.19). The governors of B's & D's dissolved their limited liability company in January 2019.

On April 11, 2019, Ms. Caskey sent Respondent ORSC, which issued B's & D's bond pursuant to RCW 18.27.040(1), a claim for compensation under the bond. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 4.20, 4.22). In response, ORSC notified Ms. Caskey on April 19, 2019, that it refused to investigate her claim unless she filed a lawsuit for breach of contract against B's & D's and ORSC in Superior Court. (*Id.* at ¶ 4.23). Specifically, ORSC's standardized notice to Ms. Caskey asserts that "[RCW 18.27.040] states that to have a proper claim under the bond, suit *must* be filed

against the Principal and Surety in Superior Court," (CP 15) (emphasis added), as its sole basis for refusing to investigate her claim. (CP 8 ¶¶ 4.24-4.25; CP 15).

In reality, and contrary to the assertion in ORSC's form denial letter, the statute actually states that "[a]ny person, firm, or corporation *having a claim* against the contractor ... *may bring suit* against the contractor and the bond or deposit in the superior court ..." RCW 18.27.040(3) (emphases added). That is, a "claim" against the bond exists prior to and separate from a "suit" that may or may not be brought by an aggrieved person.

Following ORSC's categorical refusal to investigate, resolve, or even consider her claim, Ms. Caskey filed a Verified Complaint in Spokane County Superior Court alleging derivative and direct violations of Washington's CPA, RCW 19.86, et seq., as well as IFCA, RCW 48.30, et seq.

Following Division III's published Opinion on March 17, 2022, which generally affirmed the Superior Court's ruling, Ms. Caskey now petitions this Court for final review.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should accept review for this reason because Court of Appeals decision involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

1. The Legislature Intended to Establish Special Protections for Owners and Occupants of Mobile/Manufactured Homes.

In 1987, Washington's Legislature amended the CRA to include a new section with special provisions pertaining to "Violations relating to mobile/manufactured homes." RCW 18.27.117; CONTRACTORS—REGISTRATION, 1987 Wash. Legis. Serv. Ch. 313 (S.H.B. 5814) (WEST). These special provisions included enhanced rights and remedies for owners and occupants of mobile/manufactured homes, as well as additional obligations for mobile/manufactured home installers, dealers, manufacturers, warrantors, and any "bonding company that issues a bond under chapter 18.27 RCW or chapter 46.70

RCW." RCW 18.27.117(3). The establishment of special statutory provisions for mobile/manufactured home owners and occupants is nothing new in Washington. This is because the Legislature has long recognized that owners and occupants of mobile/manufactured home represent an unusually vulnerable population:

Many tenants who reside in manufactured/mobile home communities are low-income households and senior citizens and are, therefore, those residents most in need of reasonable security in the siting of their manufactured/mobile homes because of the adverse impacts on the health, safety, and welfare of tenants forced to move due to closure, change of use, or discontinuance of manufactured/mobile home communities.

RCW 59.20.300 Findings – Intent 2008 c 116.

The fact that Washington's Legislature imposed special obligations upon sureties to "reasonably and professionally investigate and resolve claims made by injured parties," RCW 18.27.117(3), in the context of mobile/manufactured home installations and maintenance is wholly consistent with this broader public policy and Legislative intent.

It is also significant that the special provisions of RCW 18.27.117 appeal to the "occupants of a mobile/manufactured home," regardless of ownership status, while the provisions of RCW 18.27.040 are limited to what the Department identifies as "(1) laborers; (2) property owners alleging breach of contract; (3) subcontractors and suppliers providing material and equipment; and (4) state taxing authorities." (Amicus Br. 4) (citing RCW 18.040(4)) (emphases added).

Because RCW 18.27.040 applies only to "[c]laims for breach of contract by a party to the construction contract," mobile/manufactured home occupants, who may not be parties to such contracts, have no cause of action under that section. RCW 18.27.040(4)(b). At the same time, RCW 18.27.117 clearly and separately provides that "occupants of a mobile/manufactured home" are entitled to have their "claims" appropriately investigated and resolved, as well as a cause of action under RCW 19.86.020 when "[a] bonding company ... does not reasonably and professionally investigate and resolve"

those claims. RCW 18.27.117(3). In these respects, RCW 18.27.117 provides special rights, remedies, and obligations to a vulnerable population who might not otherwise have any recourse under RCW 18.27.040(3).

2. The Lower Court's Ruling Affects a Significant Number of Persons in Vulnerable Populations.

While it is virtually impossible to pinpoint the number of disputes that arise each year between mobile/manufactured home owners/occupants and their manufacturers, retailers, and installers each year, Washington's Department of Licensing estimates that there are 1,600 annual "actions against the bond" under RCW 18.27.040(3). (Amicus Br. 7). Add to this the untold number of claims made under Washington's Automobile Dealer Practices Act (ADPA), RCW 46.70.070, which is also implicated in RCW 18.27.117(3)¹, and the number of claims affected by the lower court's ruling is substantial and ongoing.

¹ RCW 18.27.117(3) applies to any bonding company "that issues a bond under chapter 18.27 RCW *or chapter 46.70 RCW*…" (emphasis added).

2. The Lower Court's Ruling Will Lead to Confusion, Inefficiency, and Inconsistency Among the Lower Courts.

The lower court's ruling also presents confounding circumstances to mobile/manufactured home owners/occupants making claims against bonds issued to manufacturers and retailers under RCW 46.70.070, because the ruling would require bond claimants to sue a trade or construction contractor licensed under the CRA before a bonding company's duty arose under RCW 18.27.117(3), when the basis of the claim may involve a vehicle manufacturer or retailer licensed under the ADPA, which is a completely different statutory scheme that may never involve trade and construction contractors licensed under the CRA.

Finally, Division III's ruling renders RCW 18.27.117(3) pointless, because it holds that no surety's duty to "reasonably and professionally investigate and resolve claims" arises until after the bond gets sued, after which point the investigation and resolution of claims is governed by discovery rules and trial

procedures, not the bonding companies. This effectively transfers the obligations imposed by RCW 18.27.117(3) from the bonding companies to the Superior Courts.

Under Division III's ruling, an "injured party" would have to file and fund a civil lawsuit, proceed through discovery and trial, and vindicate his or her claims to establish that a bonding company had failed its obligations under RCW 18.27.117(3). *Caskey*, No. 38017-3-III.

This confusion and inconsistency cannot be what the Legislature intended when it required bonding companies to simply "reasonably and professionally investigate and resolve claims made by injured parties" under RCW 18.27.117. It is the purview of this Court to fully and finally resolve reconcile these problems not only for the benefit of mobile/manufactured home owners/occupants and their manufacturers, retailers, and installers, but also for the courts that must administer disputes between them.

3. The Lower Court's Ruling Affects the Standing of All Licensing Bond Claimants to Seek Relief Under IFCA.

IFCA provides that "[a]ny first party claimant to a policy of insurance who is unreasonably denied a claim for coverage or payment of benefits" is entitled to bring an action against an insurer. RCW 48.30.015(1). A "first party claimant" is defined as "an individual ... asserting a right to payment as a covered person under an insurance policy or insurance contract arising out of the occurrence of the contingency or loss covered by a policy or contract." RCW 48.30.015(4); WAC 384-30-320(7). "Insurance policies" and "insurance contracts" include suretyships such as those existing under RCW 18.27, et seq. WAC 384-30-320(9).

RCW 18.27.117(3) specifically provides that mobile/manufactured home owners, occupants, and other "injured persons" are entitled to have their bond claims "reasonably and professionally investigate[d] and *resolve[d]*" by bonding companies that issue licensing bonds under the

CRA and ADPA. RCW 18.27.117(3). This establishes that that (a) claimants under RCW 18.27.117(3) are "covered" by the bond and (b) may have a right to some "payment" within the monetary limits of that coverage. *Id*.

Notwithstanding these provisions, the lower court ruled that Ms. Caskey "is a third-party claimant because she is asserting a claim against the contractor and against the contractor's bond." *Caskey*, No. 38017-3-III at *7. Because the same could be said about a person making a claim against virtually any licensing bond, the appellate court's decision will have far-reaching and potentially determinative impacts on dozens of licensing bonds, from contractors and vehicle dealers to notaries, cosmetology schools, collection agencies, and more. RCW 18.27.040(1); RCW 47.70.070; RCW 42.45.200(4); RCW 18.16.140(1)(d); RCW 19.16.190(1). Such a decision warrants a full and final review by this Court.

4. Ms. Caskey is Entitled to an Award of Costs and Fees.

Pursuant to RCW 19.86.090 and RCW 48.30.015(1), Ms. Caskey is entitled to recovery of her costs and fees as the prevailing party in this action, including her appeal. Pursuant to RAP 18.1, she requests that this Court authorize such an award consistent with RCW 19.86.090 and RCW 48.30.015(1).

F. CONCLUSION

Based upon the authorities and arguments herein, Mr.

Silver petitions this Court to accept final review of this matter.

G. WORD COUNT CERTIFICATION

The undersigned hereby certifies that the foregoing content, not including cover page, tables, and this certification and signature, consists of approximately 2,246 words.