FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/27/2022 11:05 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 100846-5

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 38017-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOANN CASKEY,

Appellant,

v.

OLD REPUBLIC SURETY COMPANY, et al.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT OLD REPUBLIC SURETY COMPANY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Paul K. Friedrich, WSBA #43080 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101-2380

Ph: (206) 628-6600

Fax: (206) 628-6611

Attorneys for Respondent

Old Republic Surety Company

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Petition Does Not Involve Issues of Substantial Public Interest.

The Rules of Appellate Procedure provide that a petition for review will be accepted by this Court "only: (1) If the

decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b).

The sole basis for Caskey's Petition is that it involves issues of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Pet. at 7. Accordingly, Caskey concedes that the Decision: (1) does not conflict with a decision of this Court; (2) does not conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; and (3) does not raise a significant question of constitutional law.

This Court has stated that "substantial public interest" under RAP 13.4(b)(4) refers to issues with "sweeping implications." *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 578, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). In *Watson*, for example, the Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney distributed a memorandum to all Pierce

County Superior Court judges stating that his office would no longer recommend certain drug sentences. Id. at 575. Nine months later, Watson was convicted of a drug offense and the prosecuting attorney attached a copy of the memorandum to the sentencing brief, showing it to defense counsel beforehand. *Id.* at 576. In affirming the trial court's sentence, the Court of Appeals declared sua sponte that the memorandum was an improper ex parte communication, but determined that it was harmless in this particular case. Id. On petition for review, this Court held that Watson "presents a prime example of issue of substantial public interest. The Court of Appeals' holding, while affecting parties to this proceeding, also has the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County . . . where [the drug] sentence was or is at issue." *Id.* at 577. As a result, the Court noted that the decision "invites unnecessary litigation . . . creates confusion generally . . . [and] has the potential to chill policy actions taken by both attorneys and judges." *Id.* Accordingly, this Court granted the State's petition for review. *Id.* at 578.

Similarly, in the context of granting review in cases rendered moot, this Court accepts review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) "if guidance would be helpful to public officers and the issue is likely to recur." *In re Pers. Restraint of Dalluge*, 162 Wn.2d 814, 819-20, 177 P.3d 675 (2008). The factors governing such review include: "(1) the public or private nature of the question presented; (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination which will provide future guidance to public officers; and (3) the likelihood that the question will recur." *State v. Peterson*, 186 P.3d 1179, 1181 (2008) (internal quotes omitted). The standard is high.¹

¹ The RAP 13.4(b)(4) "substantial public interest" standard is consistent with this Court's "substantial public importance" test for resolving standing issues. In that context, an issue "is of substantial public importance, [if it] immediately affects significant segments of the population, and has a direct bearing on commerce, finance, labor, industry, or agriculture." *See*, *e.g.*, *Grant County Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake*, 150 Wn.2d 791, 803, 83 P.3d 419 (2004) (internal quotes omitted). Again, this Court grants review only to those cases that will affect large segments of the population.

Other than unsupported conclusory assertions, Caskey offers nothing to explain why the Decision merits review under the stringent "substantial public interest" standard. As explained more fully below, the issues raised in this case do not come close to warranting review under this demanding standard.

B. Caskey's Failure to Properly File and Serve a Claim in Accordance With RCW 18.27.040(3) Is Not An Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

The Court of Appeals held that "[a] claim against the bond requires a lawsuit according to the procedures set forth in RCW 18.27.040(3)." App. No. 1 at 16. Without citation to RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2) and without identifying any specific Washington cases, Caskey nonetheless claims that the Decision "renders RCW 18.27.117(3) pointless" and creates "confusion and inconsistency," and therefore constitutes an issue of substantial public interest. Pet. at 11, 12. Caskey's arguments are without any legal basis.

The Court of Appeals simply and correctly applied the unambiguous language and statutory scheme of the Act,

supported by applicable administrative regulations, well-established Washington law, and strong public policy considerations, to conclude that the sole procedure for perfecting a claim against a contractor's license bond is by filing and serving a lawsuit in accordance with RCW 18.27.040(3). This conclusion has no impact on any party other than Caskey. It does not have "sweeping implications" for litigants in other cases, does not involve a public dispute, and does not change any existing parties' rights or remedies.

Furthermore, that the requirements of RCW 18.27.040(3) have not been applied to Caskey's exact circumstances in a published or unpublished decision prior to this case suggests that the issue is unlikely to recur, a conclusion that also cuts against allowing review. There is no reason, and Caskey has not offered any, that the affirmation the Department's interpretation of unambiguous provisions of the Act, requiring that Caskey pursue the exclusive procedure outlined under RCW 18.27.040(3) as a

precondition to asserting a contractor's license bond claim, presents an issue of substantial public interest.

Further, Caskey's claim that the Decision may lead to confusion and inconsistency is without merit. In fact, the opposite is true. The Decision "allows the Department to fulfill its duties to regulate contractors and provide information to the public." App. No. 1 at 14. The statutory scheme of the Act, together with applicable administrative regulations, supporting case law, and policy rationales, demonstrate that the Decision is not only legally correct, but also necessary to enable the Department to execute its statutory mandate to enforce the Act, monitor the registration of contractors, and keep public records of claims against contractors. Furthermore, it provides certainty, consistency, and transparency to all parties involved in contractor's license bond claims by establishing one procedure for filing and service of claims along with a repository (the Department) of those claims that is publicly available to the consumers, contractors, and attorneys.

1. **The Act Is Unambiguous.** The Act, RCW 18.27 et seq., is a comprehensive chapter regulating contractor business practices. The express purpose of the Act is to "afford protection" the public" from "unreliable, fraudulent, financially irresponsible, or incompetent contractors." RCW 18.27.140. The Act requires contractors to be registered with the Department so that the Department can "regulate contractors." App. No. 1 at 13. The Act is unambiguous in that it prescribes the exclusive method for asserting claims against a contractor's license bond as outlined in RCW 18.27.040(3), which is accomplished by "serv[ing] three copies of the summons and complaint on the Department, who then serves the contractor and the surety." App. No. 1 at 14.

Washington courts agree that RCW 18.27.040 "designates the persons and enumerates who may make claims against the bond, *the method of making the claims*, and the order in which claims shall be satisfied." *Int'l Commercial Collectors, Inc. v.*

Carver, 99 Wn.2d 302, 304, 661 P.2d 976 (1983) (emphasis added).

Again, the Act outlines only one procedure for asserting a claim on a contractor's license bond. A statutory bond must be interpreted "in light of the requirements of the relevant statute." *Estate of Jordan by Jordan v. Hartford Acc. & Indem. Co.*, 120 Wn.2d 490, 497, 844 P.2d 403 (1993). "RCW 18.27.040(3) allows a residential homeowner with a breach of contract claim to bring action against the contractor and the surety on the bond in the superior court...." *Hosea v. Toth*, 156 Wn. App. 263, 268, 232 P.3d 576 (2010).

As noted by the Court of Appeals, no alternative claim filing procedures or mechanisms exist. App. No. 1 at 14. While Caskey argues that filing a claim against the bond can be accomplished with a demand letter, "[s]he does not cite any authority for this position, nor does she refer us to any examples where a demand letter was used to resolve a claim against a bond." *Id.* RCW 18.27.117 references claims by injured parties,

but it does not designate any alternative procedure for making a claim other than that set forth in RCW 18.27.040(3). There is no ambiguity in the Act as to the method for asserting a license bond claim because there is no alternative procedure other than the steps outlined in RCW 18.27.040(3).

2. Case Law is Unambiguous. Consistent with the Decision, Washington courts unanimously agree that RCW 18.27.040(3) prescribes the exclusive procedure for perfecting a claim on a contractor's license bond.

This Court has stated on three separate occasions that RCW 18.27.040(3) prescribes the exclusive procedure for making a claim on a contractor's license bond. In *Int'l Commercial Collectors, Inc. v. Carver*, the Court stated that "RCW 18.27.040 designates the persons and enumerates who may make claims against the bond, *the method of making the claims*, and the order in which claims shall be satisfied." 99 Wn.2d at 304 (emphasis added). Three years later, the Court made a similar proclamation in *Stewart Carpet Serv., Inc. v.*

Contractors Bonding & Ins. Co., and stated that "RCW 18.27.040 identifies the persons who may make claims against these bonds, *specifies the procedures for making the claims*, and sets forth an order of priority by which claims are to be paid." 105 Wn.2d 353, 357, 715 P.2d 115 (1986) (emphasis added).

In Cosmopolitan Eng'g Grp., Inc. v. Ondeo Degremont, *Inc.*, 159 Wn.2d 292, 149 P.3d 666 (2006), the Court stated that "RCW 18.27.040(3) allows parties having a claim to bring suit against the bond. The statute recites filing requirements, statutes of limitations, and service requirements specifically for suits against the bond." Id. at 297. In Cosmopolitan, the Court analyzed whether the attorney fee provision in RCW 18.27.040(6) applied both to the contractor and the surety bond. *Id.*, 299 – 300. As part of its analysis, the Court examined a prior Court of Appeals decision in Subcontractors & Suppliers Collection Servs. v. McConnachie, 106 Wash.App. 738, 24 P.3d 1112 (2001), regarding whether service through the Department conferred personal jurisdiction over the contractor for the debt not covered by the bond. *Id.*, at 300. In the *Cosmopolitan* Court's analysis, it reiterated the *McConnachie* Court's holding regarding the statutory requirements for making a claim on the surety bond, and stated as follows:

The question before the court was whether service pursuant to RCW 18.27.040 conferred personal jurisdiction over the contractor for debt not covered by the bond. *Id.* In this context, the *McConnachie* court examined the entire legislative scheme and concluded that RCW 18.27.040 'spells out the requirements for realizing on a construction bond, including effecting service.'

Id. The Cosmopolitan Court agreed with the reasoning in McConnachie, stating:

The *McConnachie* court's reasoning applies equally here; considering the context of the overall legislative scheme, the statute as a whole spells out the requirements and conditions for realizing on a contractor's bond.

Id. (emphasis added).

The Decision is squarely aligned with prior decisions of this Court. This Court has repeatedly stated that the procedures and methods for making a claim on a contractor's license bond are prescribed by RCW 18.27.040(3). Those procedures require that the claimant commence litigation by filing a summons and complaint in the superior court and serving it through the Department. App. No. 1 at 16 ("A claim against the bond requires a lawsuit according to the procedures set forth in RCW 18.27.040(3).") No statute, regulation, nor any Washington court has identified an alternative method for making a claim against the license bond. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly held that a claimant who seeks to initiate a claim against the license bond must comply with RCW 18.27.040(3).

Despite the unambiguous statute and the supporting case law, Caskey argues here – as she did below – that the Decision will render RCW 18.27.117(3) pointless because it requires claimants to file suit in order to trigger the surety's duty to reasonably investigate and resolve claims. Pet. at 11-12. However, Caskey fails to explain how the surety's duty to reasonably investigate following the filing of a lawsuit renders RCW 18.27.117 meaningless, as the Decision clearly imposes a

duty upon sureties to reasonably investigate claims once a claim has been filed and served in accordance with RCW 18.27.040(3) and, furthermore, creates a statutory cause of action under the Consumer Protection Act. For inexplicable reasons, Caskey, unlike approximately 1,600² claimants each year who comply with RCW 18.27.040(3), deliberately chose not to follow the procedures for maintaining a claim against Old Republic and, therefore, Old Republic's duty to investigate was not triggered.

In summary, both case law and the plain language of the Act unquestionably support the Decision, and Caskey's efforts to circumvent the established procedure for asserting a contractor's license bond claim were properly rejected by both the Trial Court and the Court of Appeals.

3. Public Policy Warrants Denial of Review. Lastly, Caskey misapprehends the purpose of the Act as *solely* affording protection to owners of manufactured homes. Pet. at 11-12.

² See App. No. 2 at 5.

However, as the statutory scheme of the Act and amicus curiae illustrate, the requirement that all claimants who seek to recover against a contractor's license bond follow the procedures of RCW 18.27.040(3) accomplishes the *dual* purpose of affording protection to the general public, including owners of manufactured homes, and contractors. See App. No. 2 at 12-15. The Washington State Legislature has tasked the Department with the regulation of contractors in this State. RCW 18.27.020. As such, the Department is the entity responsible for enforcing the procedures and requirements of the Act, and adopting rules, set forth in the Washington Administrative Code, to effectuate the purpose of the Act. Accordingly, the Department's interpretation of a statute is accorded "substantial weight" and "deference" when undergoing judicial review. City of Redmond v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 136 Wash. 2d 38, 46, 959 P.2d 1091(1998).

As noted by the Court of Appeals, there are significant public policy rationales supporting the Decision holding that

RCW 18.27.040(3) prescribes the exclusive procedure for making a claim on a contractor's surety bond – namely: "using the proscribed bond claim process allows the Department to fulfill its duties to regulate contractors and provide information to the public." App. No. 1 at 14. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that RCW 18.27.040(3), which establishes the Department as the exclusive conduit for contractor's license bond claims, is the only procedure which allows the Department to effectuate the purpose of the Act: to administer and monitor the registration of contractors and to keep the public informed of unreliable, fraudulent, financially irresponsible, or incompetent contractors. See RCW 18.27.140. Furthermore, Caskey's proposed alternative claim filing scheme, whereby a claim could be initiated by merely sending a demand letter to the surety, without notice to the Department or contractor, would strip contractors of their due process right to be notified of bond claims and have an opportunity to respond to claims arising out of their work.³ The Court of Appeals properly recognized that such proposal "is not workable because it fails to trigger the collateral ramifications of an action on the bond" – that is, notice to the Department and the contractor, among others. App. No. 1 at 15.

No "substantial public interest" or other purpose would be served by this Court engaging in review of the Decision, which is consistent with: (1) prior holdings of this Court addressing RCW 18.27.040; and (2) the Department's interpretation of RCW 18.27.040.

C. Caskey's Lack of Standing to Pursue Her IFCA Cause of Action Is Not An Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Caskey fails to effectively explain why the lower courts' routine application of well-settled Washington case law in a private dispute with Old Republic involves an issue

23

³ LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Grp., LLC, 181 Wn.2d 48, 68, 331 P.3d 1147 (2014)("[D]eprivations of one's professional license clearly implicate interests subject to due process protections."). Devine v. State, Dep't of Licensing, 126 Wn. App. 941, 951, 110 P.3d 237 (2005)("Due process requires both notice and the opportunity to be heard."); Dep't of Revenue v. Nat'l Indem. Co., 45 Wn. App. 59, 61-62, 723 P.2d 1187 (1986).

of substantial public interest. Pet. at 14. Instead, she simply offers the same arguments that both lower courts rejected, now urging this Court to overturn governing law for an approach previously rejected by the Court of Appeals, Division I, in *Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Co.*, 176 Wn. App. 185, 201, 312 P.3d 976 (2013). The *Trinity* court firmly slammed the door shut on third-party IFCA claims in Washington, stating:

IFCA clearly vests a cause of action with *first party claimants*. RCW 48.30.015(1). That is, individuals and businesses who own an insurance policy may bring suit against their insurer for unreasonably denying a claim of coverage. The purpose of IFCA is to protect individual policy holders from unfair practices by their insurers.... Just like the CPA, nothing in the language of IFCA gives third party claimants the right to sue.

Trinity, 176 Wn. App., at 201. (italicized emphasis in original, underlined emphasis added) (internal citations omitted).

Caskey attempts to circumvent the clear authority set forth in *Trinity* and the Decision by claiming that whether she is a party to the Bond is irrelevant. Pet. at 13-14. Caskey asserts that her status as a statutory claimant, or beneficiary, under RCW

18.27.040 makes her a first-party claimant. *Id*. In doing so, Caskey misinterprets the law and her relation to the Bond.

Bud's & Doug's, the bond principal, is the entity "insured under the insurance policy or insurance contract[.]" WAC 284-30-320(17). Caskey's claim arises out of Bud's & Doug's defective installation of her manufactured home. Caskey, therefore, fits squarely within the definition of a "third-party claimant" because she is "asserting a claim against [an]... entity insured under an insurance policy or insurance contract[.]" WAC 284-30-320(17).

The plain language of RCW 18.27.040 further clarifies Caskey's status as a third-party claimant. Pursuant to RCW 18.27.040(1), the license bond is only liable for "amounts that may be adjudged against the contractor by reason of breach of contract[.]" RCW 18.27.040(1); App. No. 1 at 7. Caskey does not have a direct right to payment from Old Republic. The license bond is only secondarily liable for the statutorily enumerated claims that may be asserted by the claimant against the principal.

Id. Any claim against Old Republic is derivative of her primary claim against Bud's & Doug's. Caskey is asserting a claim against the entity covered by the license bond; thus, the Court of Appeals correctly held that she is a third-party claimant with no standing to assert an IFCA claim against Old Republic.

Importantly, Caskey has not identified a single case from any jurisdiction in which a statutory third-party claimant had standing to assert an IFCA or any statutory unfair claims practices cause of action against a surety. On the other hand, the Court of Appeals, Division I, has extended the *Trinity* holding to a case involving a surety in *Kenco Constr.*, *Inc. v. Porter Bros. Constr.*, *Inc.*, 2018 WL 2966785 (unpublished). There, Porter, the bond claimant, argued that the surety failed to conduct a reasonable investigation and that Porter was entitled to assert an IFCA claim against the surety. *Id.*, at *15. The Court of Appeals rejected Porter's argument, explaining that Porter, as a bond claimant, "was not a party to the contractual relationship"

between the subcontractor and its surety and therefore lacked standing as a "third-party claimant[]" under IFCA. *Id.*, at *16.

Caskey is not a first party claimant because she does "own an insurance policy," she is not a "policyholder[]," and she is not an insured under the Bond. *Trinity*, 176 Wn. App., at 201. She is a third-party claimant who had the right to assert a breach of contract claim against Bud's & Doug's, and Old Republic may have been liable for any "amounts adjudged against [Bud's & Doug's] by reason of breach of contract[.]" RCW 18.27.040(1). As a third-party claimant, she lacks standing to sue Old Republic for violations of IFCA as properly determined by the Court of Appeals.

Furthermore, even if Caskey had standing under IFCA, her IFCA claim fails as a matter of law because she cannot establish the statutory prerequisite of an IFCA cause of action under RCW 48.30.015(1). An absolute precondition to an IFCA cause of action is an unreasonable denial of a "claim" for coverage or payment of benefits. *Perez-Crisantos v. State Farm Fire & Cas.*

Co., 187 Wash. 2d 669, 686, 389 P.3d 476, 484 (2017). Here, the Court of Appeals held that because "Ms. Caskey did not file a claim against the bond, Old Republic did not have a duty to investigate her claim against the contractor." App. No 1. at 16. Absent any claim or duty to investigate, it cannot be said that Old Republic unreasonably denied a claim and, therefore, Caskey cannot establish the statutory prerequisite for an IFCA cause of action. Accordingly, even if the Decision on the issue of Caskey's standing was incorrect (it is not), her IFCA claim still fails and, therefore, the lower courts' decisions do not warrant review.

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